IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-423 (Lower Court Case No. 81-19702)

ROBERT PATTON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF

SUZANNE MYERS Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 NE 3d Avenue Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

#### A. TRIAL AND RESENTENCING

Mr. Patton was arrested on September 2, 1981, the day of the offense. On September 25, 1981, the trial court announced it was considering a late November trial date (R. 30). At that time, the court <u>ore tenus</u> ordered that Mr. Patton be evaluated for competency and sanity; four experts were appointed by the court.

A competency hearing was held on October 9, 1981. The State acknowledged that Mr. Patton had been previously declared incompetent as well as not guilty by reason of insanity (R. 47). Following a brief hearing, the court found Mr. Patton competent to stand trial (R. 91-93).

Trial began on February 16, 1982, with a verdict on February 22, 1982 (R. 1528-29). At the penalty phase, the jury returned a life recommendation after indicating that it was deadlocked at 6-6 (R. 1773). The court refused to accept the vote, and gave the jurors an <u>Allen</u> charge, instructing them to deliberate further. The jury then returned with a 7-5 death recommendation, which the court followed. On direct

appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Patton's convictions, but reversed the sentence of death because the court erred in giving the <u>Allen</u> charge to the jury and remanded for a jury resentencing. <u>Patton v. State</u>, 467 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1985).

Resentencing commenced on April 29, 1989, and on May 4, 1989, the jury returned a death recommendation. The trial court imposed the death penalty, and this Court affirmed. <u>Patten v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 113 S. Ct. 1818 (1993).<sup>1</sup>

## B. POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

A Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion was filed on June 8, 1994, nearly ten (10) months prior to the two-year deadline (Supp. PC-R. 7-170), alleging, <u>inter alia</u>, the State's failure to comply with Chapter 119 (Supp. PC-R. 13 <u>et. seq.</u>).<sup>2</sup> The lower court<sup>3</sup> scheduled several status hearings following the filing of the 3.850 motion.

 $^{2}$ A verification to the motion was later filed (Supp. PC-R. 601-03).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mr. Patton's name has been spelled both as "Patton" and "Patten." "Patton" is the correct spelling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The case was heard by Judge Carol Gersten. The original trial judge was Judge Thomas Scott, and the resentencing was presided over by Judge Frederico Moreno, neither of whom were on the circuit bench when Mr. Patton initiated his Rule 3.850 proceedings.

Another amended Rule 3.850 motion was subsequently filed on July 22, 1995 (PC-R. 202-380); a verification was later filed (R. 457-58). On August 4, 1995, a <u>Huff<sup>4</sup></u> hearing was held. On September 21, 1995, the court contacted the parties by phone and summarily denied the motion for the reasons set forth in the State's response, and requested the State to prepare an order to that effect.<sup>5</sup> On October 2, 1995, the State faxed two proposed orders to Mr. Patton's counsel.

On October 11, 1995, Mr. Patton formally objected to the State's proposed orders (Supp. PC-R. 646). The State submitted its proposed orders to Judge Gersten notwithstanding, although noting, Mr. Patton's objections (Supp. PC-R. 647-48)

On September 26, 1996, the court signed one of the State's proposed orders summarily denying Mr. Patton's motion with prejudice (PC-R. 459-62). On September 27, 1996, Mr. Patton received via fax from the State Attorney's Office a copy of the order signed by Judge Gersten (PC-R. 463).

Mr. Patton filed a motion for rehearing, the State filed a written response to the rehearing motion (PC-R. 470), and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup><u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This telephone conference was not attended by a court reporter; however, in her letter to the judge, Assistant State Attorney Brill referred to this telephonic status as well as the court's request to draft an order indicating that the motion was to be summarily denied for the reasons set forth in the State's response. <u>See</u> PC-R. 637.

the lower court, following a hearing (T. 395), entered an order denying rehearing (PC-R. 474). A notice of appeal was timely filed by Mr. Patton (PC-R. 475). The State filed a cross-appeal (PC-R. 477).

This Court remanded to the circuit court for the purpose of conducting an evidentiary hearing on the issues of trial counsel's ineffectiveness for failing to present evidence of intoxication and insanity during the guilt/innocence phase of trial and for failing to question jurors regarding mental illness during voir dire. <u>Patton v. State</u>, 784 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2000).

Initially, the circuit court set an evidentiary hearing on these issues for August 9 and 10, 2001.

On June 13, 2001, Mr. Patton filed a Motion to Interview Jurors based on this Court's remand on the issue of trial counsel's failure to voir dire jurors regarding mental health biases. The State filed a response to Mr. Patton's motion on June 19, 2001. A combination status and motion hearing was held on July 31, 2001. Judge Bagley heard argument on Mr. Patton's Motion to Interview Jurors and considered the State's unopposed request to reschedule the evidentiary hearing for reasons unrelated to Mr. Patton's motion. At that time, Judge Bagley rescheduled the evidentiary hearing for October 18 and 19, 2001. Also, Judge Bagley denied Mr. Patton's Motion to

Interview Jurors, entering a signed order on August 1, 2001. Mr. Patton filed an interlocutory appeal with this Court on August 30, 2001, along with a Motion to Stay Lower Court Proceedings Pending Disposition of Petition for Interlocutory Review. The Court ordered a response from the State and the State filed a response on October 19. 2001. Mr. Patton's motion to stay the lower court proceedings was denied. A reply to the response was then filed by Mr. Patton.

On October 18, 2001, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing and subsequently denied relief (PC-R2. 159).

On January 3, 2002, Mr. Patton filed a Motion for Reconsideration (PC-R2-Supp. 2). The circuit court denied the motion (PC-R2. 308). Mr. Patton timely appealed. On March 21, 2002, this Court dismissed the interlocutory appeal as moot since the lower court proceedings were concluded and a notice of appeal was filed.

#### Statement of Facts

On October 18, 2001, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel during the guilt phase of Mr. Patton's trial. Evidence was heard on October 18, 2001. Mr. Patton presented the testimony of trial counsel, Marsha Lyons, and pursuant to a stipulation by the State, relies on the 1982 and 1989 testimony of Dr. Jethro Toomer and the 1989 testimony of Dr. Harry Krop. The State presented the testimony of trial counsel's associate, Bart Billbrough. The testimony and evidence heard by this circuit court corroborates trial counsel's ineffectiveness for failing to present evidence of intoxication and insanity at the time of trial and for failing to question jurors regarding mental illness during voir dire.

Ms. Lyons testified that while she had been an attorney for a number of years, Mr. Patton's case was the first capital case she had tried (PC-R2. 346). Ms. Lyons overall strategy was to achieve a result of something less than first-degree murder (PC-R2. 348). As part of this strategy, Ms. Lyons decided to address Mr. Patton's appearance (Id.). She indicated he looked very "ragged," with "straggly long hair," so she had him cleaned up (PC-R2. 349). From the beginning, Ms. Lyons started looking at the possibility of an insanity defense and an intoxication defense (PC-R2. 350). She was aware that Mr. Patton had previously been adjudicated insane in connection with a prior proceeding (Id.) and had in fact, filed a notice of intent to rely on an insanity defense early on in the proceedings (PC-R2. 351). However, Ms. Lyons never asked for a confidential defense expert (Id.).

The court initially appointed four experts to evaluate Mr. Patton only for competency (PC-R2. 351-52). The four doctors were Dr. Herrera, Dr. Jacobson, Dr. Mutter and Dr. Jaslow (PC-R2. 352). Ms. Lyons also contacted Dr. Jethro Toomer to become involved in the case (PC-R2. 353). He was given various background materials and was asked to determine if Mr. Patton was insane at the time of the offense (PC-R2. 354). Ms. Lyons explained that there was a problem with the insanity defense because Mr. Patton had told numerous people

he was simply faking it (PC-R2. 354). However, she agreed that she would have considered the insanity defense if she would have had an expert to explain Mr. Patton's statements that he was faking his mental illness (PC-R. 355). Ms. Lyons had no recollection of her communications with Dr. Toomer or of the scope of what he was asked to do (PC-R2. 364). However, there were several memos in Ms. Lyons files reflecting her conversations and correspondence with Dr. Toomer(PC-R2. 364, 366; Defense Exihibits B and C).

Likewise, Ms. Lyons was aware that Mr. Patton had a substance abuse problem (PC-R2. 357). Mr. Patton's abuse problem began when he was fairly young and continued off and on until the time of the crime (PC-R2. 357). Ms. Lyons was aware of evidence and witnesses indicating that Mr. Patton had taken drugs prior to the crime and was intoxicated or high during the commission of the crime (PC-R2. 358). Ms. Lyons considered the information regarding his intoxication as it pertained to Mr. Patton's lack of specific intent in committing the crime (Id.). Although some evidence of Mr. Patton's drug use came out during the state's case, no evidence to that effect was presented during the defense case in chief (PC-R2. 358-59). Ms. Lyons conceded that the evidence of drug use which came out through the state's case was consistent with her argument regarding Mr. Patton's level

of culpability (PC-R2. 359). Yet, Ms. Lyons explained why she did not present further corroboration of his drug use:

I said I did not want to taint the jury in the guilt phase by putting in a lot of things about him being, you know, quote unquote a druggy because I just did not think that this was a very popular kind of defense to use. This was the 80's in Miami. Miami was like a place that was terrorized, for lack of a better word, with drugs where drugs were in the headlines everyday, and I think - I just don't think it was the kind of thing that would of made him a sympathetic character to present that in the guilt phase of the proceedings.

(PC-R2. 361). Instead, Ms. Lyons wanted to present Mr. Patton as "the kid who had a drug problem but not to be a druggy" (PC-R2. 361). Additionally, Ms. Lyons considered and rejected the possibility of using an expert to explain Mr. Patton's drug addiction. She state that the expert she consulted was not very helpful and, again, she thought the jury would not be very sympathetic to this defense (Id.).

Despite not having presented evidence of Mr. Patton's intoxication, Ms. Lyons argued to the jury during closing that Mr. Patton was intoxicated and the jury should consider a lesser verdict as a result (PC-R2. 362). Ms. Lyons was not concerned about arguing intoxication without any specific evidence having been presented:

> I didn't really have a concern. I mean, it was to me the level of intoxication kind of thing, we were using, sort of the same kind of thing you would of used to say that, you

know, he had, had a few too many drinks or he had a fight with his wife or, you know, it was kind of what we were trying to say, he had made an instantaneous decision. He did not make a premeditated decision. He was scared. He was running. His thinking was muddled, so to speak, by events around him in particular case he had used some drugs, not so much that he was a person who had chronic history of drug disease, that wasn't what we were trying to do. We were specifically not doing that.

(PC-R2. 363). The record reflects and Ms. Lyons agreed that she requested a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication and one was given (PC-R2. 367).

Ms. Lyons recalled that the jury was not asked any questions relating to biases with respect to drug use, intoxication, mental illness or insanity (PC-R2. 368). Although Ms. Lyons had asked to have juror questionnaires submitted, Judge Scott refused until after voir dire had already begun (Id.). The original questionnaire Ms. Lyons requested did contain some questions pertaining to drug use, but the questionnaire eventually submitted to the jury did not (PC-R2. 369). Ms. Lyons agreed that had any jurors harbored any bias with respect to intoxication issues, this "would certainly be useful to an attorney in selecting, selecting jurors, obviously" and may potentially result in a peremptory or cause challenge (Id.). This line of questioning during voir dire would not only have been useful for the guilt phase,

but also in preparation for the penalty phase of the trial (PC-R2. 370).

During cross-examination, Ms. Lyons reiterated that her overall strategy was to make Mr. Patton as sympathetic as possible, in a manner which was consistent with a majority of the witnesses and evidence presented (PC-R2. 371). In developing her strategy, Ms. Lyons consulted with various attorneys with experience trying homicide cases and death penalty cases, including Roy Black and the public defender's office (PC-R2. 373). Again, Ms. Lyons stated that she did not want to bring forth evidence which would portray Mr. Patton as somebody affiliated with the "drug business" (PC-R2. 374). Ms. Lyons testified during cross-examination:

> As I tried to explain, what I wanted to do was, you know, make him - I believed that middle class people and your common jurors would understand that kids got involved in That there are, because people were drugs. reading about these things, and they knew these things were happening, that good kids sometimes get involved with drugs, and I wanted him to be the good kid that we could understand, that kids down the street, the neighbor's kid, the people we went to church with, kid that we heard about took some drugs, got into some drugs, had some bad times, but they were going to be okay kind of thing. That was what we were trying to portray him as. Not as a drug dealer or a long time, a person who was involved in the drug trade.

(PC-R2. 375). Therefore, when some evidence of drug use came out in the state's case, she thought it was fine "as long as

it was mild enough [she] considered it to be something [she] could deal with" (PC-R2. 376).

Ms. Lyons testified that she had no evidence that Mr. Patton was heavily intoxicated at the time of the crime (PCR2. 377). She noted that there was nothing to indicate intoxication in the records, the police officers did not indicate Mr. Patton was intoxicated when he was arrested and the two men he was with just prior to the shooting testified in their depositions that he was not intoxicated (Id.). Ms. Lyons further explained that Mr. Patton's behavior immediately following the crime was inconsistent with drug intoxication as he was able to get the keys to a car and drive away. However, her main reason for not presenting an intoxication defense was "the drug culture thing" (PC-R2. 378). She did believe there were witnesses who could support Mr. Patton's intoxication at the time of the crime (Id.).

Ms. Lyons agreed that her file was well documented with the action she took in Mr. Patton's case. The State presented the affidavits Ms. Lyons submitted for payment which documented all the work she had done (PC-R2. 381). The State then had Ms. Lyons read through her affidavits and inform the court the names of the defense attorneys she consulted with and the nature of the consultation (PC-R2. 382-86). Ms. Lyons testified that her records indicated telephone conferences

with various defense attorneys, but when asked what she was looking to gain from these conferences, Ms. Lyons indicated she hoped "to gain incite (sic) for various things that we were doing to bounce ideas off of them" (PC-R2. 386). Ms. Lyons had several attorneys prepare affidavits for her when she was asking the court for investigative costs or a second chair attorney (Id.).

Ms. Lyons was cross-examined regarding the insanity issue, and indicated she did not have a recollection of consulting with other attorneys about this issue, but she was sure she discussed "every important issue with all of these people" (PC-R2. 388). Ms. Lyons expressed that it was her belief the insanity defense had very little success (Id.). The State introduced various letters from Ms. Lyons files written by Mr. Patton to his sister and girlfriend indicating Mr. Patton's thoughts that he was fooling the doctors into believing he was mentally ill (PC-R2. 390-392). Ms. Lyons stated that if she knew that Mr. Patton was feigning mental illness, she ethically could not have presented the defense to a jury (PC-R2. 392).

Additionally the State entered into evidence memos from Ms. Lyons file written by her co-counsel, Bart Billbrough, detailing a conversation between Mr. Billbrough and Mr. Patton. The memo indicates that Mr. Billbrough impressed upon

Mr. Patton to be candid during his evaluation by Dr. Toomer (PC-R2. 393). It also indicates that in Mr. Billbrough's opinion, Mr. Patton did not understand the serious nature of the offense, nor the steps necessary to build a defense (PC-R2. 394). A second memo by Mr. Billbrough provides Mr. Patton's version of the crime, specifically the shooting and the events following the shooting (Id.). Ms. Lyons testified that his "clear recollection of the events" seemed to indicate he was not intoxicated or insane at the time of the events (PC-R2. 395).

Ms. Lyons indicated that the information provided by Dr. Toomer did not support an insanity (PC-R2. 397). The State introduced into evidence the reports of Dr. Mutter, Dr. Jacobson, Dr. Herrera and Dr. Jaslow. Dr. Mutter's report indicated that Mr. Patton was competent to aid counsel in his defense, knew right from wrong and understood the consequences of his acts (PC-R2. 401). His report also details some of the facts of the case as recalled by Mr. Patton (PC-R2. 402). Dr. Jaslow's report reveals that Mr. Patton did not know he was being charged with first-degree murder, but only thought he was charged with driving a stolen car and possibly an earlier charge of robbery (Id.). Ms. Lyons testified that inconsistencies between the various doctors would not have been helpful and recognized that a number of the doctors

stated their belief that Mr. Patton was attempting to fool them with his symptoms (PC-R2. 403). Because it was Dr. Jacobson's opinion that Mr. Patton "at the time of the alleged offense, absence any information to the contrary, was able to meet the test for criminal responsibility," Ms. Lyons would not have called the doctor to testify (PC-R2. 404).

In his report to Dr. Herrera, Mr. Patton denied all wrong doing, which Ms. Lyons, again, recognized as inconsistent with Dr. Mutter's report. Dr. Herrera concluded that Mr. Patton was competent to stand trial and assist with his defense and was "engaging in conscious simulation" (PC-R2. 405). Furthermore, Dr. Herrera concluded that he was sane according to the McNaughten Rule and found no evidence of mental illness (Id.). As such, Ms. Lyons did not feel Dr. Herrera would be a good witness. Finally, Dr. Jaslow stated Mr. Patton appeared to have the "capability to know right from wrong and the nature and consequences of his actions" (PC-R2. 406). However, as Ms. Lyons pointed out, he could have reviewed some additional information to assist him in coming to an opinion(Id.). Ms. Lyons reiterated her consideration of the insanity defense and the effect the doctor's reports of malingering had on her decision not to present such a defense. She stated again that had she had an expert that could have

explained the faking as part of the diagnosis of insanity, that defense would be possible or reasonable (PC-R2. 407).

During re-direct, Ms. Lyons agreed that a defense of intoxication and lack of intent can be consistent in the guilt and penalty phase (PC-R2. 411). Although Ms. Lyons testified during cross-examination that Mr. Patton was a drug dealer, she conceded that he only sold drugs to buy more drugs and was not in a drug cartel (PC-R2. 414). She also agreed that she argued on during closing argument that Mr. Patton "needed drugs, was strung out on drugs and was trying to buy drugs" (Id.). Ms. Lyons recognized the difference between portraying Mr. Patton as someone with a lifelong substance abuse history, or a "druggie," and simply presenting evidence that he ingested drugs immediately prior to the crime (PC-R2. 415), and agreed that hiring an expert to talk about the drugs used just prior to the crime would have been a possibility (PC-R2. 416).

Ms. Lyons acknowledged that her conversations with other defense attorneys did not pertain solely to the issues of insanity and intoxication, but included inquiries regarding routine death penalty motions, excluding the media and many other issues (PC-R2. 418).

On cross-examination Ms. Lyons stated there was no evidence of drug use on the day of the offense in Mr. Patton's

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