IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-423

ROBERT PATTON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD E. DORAN Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441

FAX (305) 377-5654

#

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

Additionally, attempting to present testimony from witnesses such as Mark Castle to show that Defendant was intoxicated at the time would have resulted in the disclosure of harmful evidence. Defendant had told Mr. Castle that he planned to kill someone if anyone tried to arrest him again. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to open the door to unfavorable evidence. *Breedlove v. State*, 692 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1997). The claim would properly denied, and the lower court should be affirmed.

Moreover, the evidence at trial showed that the two people who were with Defendant in the 2 to 2½ hours before the crime

testified that Defendant was not intoxicated. Moreover, the deliberateness of Defendant's actions at the time of the crime was inconsistent with intoxication. Defendant escaped, robbed another victim of his car, drove without mishap, went to his grandmother's house, changed his clothes, cleaned the murder weapon, and hid it. Sgt. Bohan testified that Defendant appeared to have scratches on his arms but did not know if they were track marks. (DAT. 221) The jail records indicated that Defendant did not experience any drug withdraw. (RSR. 2958) Given this evidence, the lower court properly found that Defendant was not prejudiced by the failure to present more evidence of voluntary intoxication. See Lambrix, 534 So. 2d at 1154; White v. State, 559 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 1990). Ιt should be affirmed.

With regard to insanity, Defendant asserts that the lower court erred in finding that counsel made a valid strategic decision not to present an insanity defense. However, both Ms. Lyons and Mr. Billbrough testified that a strategic decision was made not to present an insanity defense. Moreover, the record reflects that this determination was made after abundant investigation, which included obtaining all of Defendant's records and having Defendant evaluated by numerous experts. In fact, Defendant has been unable to show that Ms. Lyons'

investigation was deficient in any way. A strategic decision made after through investigation does not form the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Haliburton v. State*, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997)(quoting *Palmes v. Wainwright*, 725 F.2d 1511, 1521 (11th Cir. 1984)(quoting Adams v. *Wainwright*, 709 F.2d 1443, 1445 (11th Cir. 1983))). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Defendant also contends that the lower court should not have relied on the opinions of Drs. Mutter, Jacobson, Jaslow and Herrera because they did not evaluate Defendant's sanity at the time of the offense. However, the lower court's reliance on these doctors was proper as the doctors were appointed to, and did, evaluate Defendant's sanity at the time of the offense. At arraignment, the trial court appointed the doctors. (DAT. 30) In doing so, the trial court expressly stated that the doctors were to evaluate Defendant for both competence and sanity. 30) The reports of the doctors indicated that they (DAT. evaluated Defendant for sanity at the time of the crime as well as competence. (R. 397-406) Dr. Herrera expressly testified that he evaluated Defendant for sanity, as did Dr. Mutter. (RSR. 2942, 3076-79) Under these circumstances, the lower court properly relied on these opinions.

Defendant also appears to contend that the lower court

should not have relied upon those reports because the doctors did not have background material. However, Dr. Jaslow, Herrera and Mutter testified that they remained of the opinion that Defendant was not insane even after reviewing medical records. 1697-1702, RSR. 2943-44, 3080-81, (DAT. 3089) Defendant presented no evidence that the provision of background materials Jacobson's opinion. would have altered Dr. Under these circumstances, the lower court properly relied on the doctors' opinions in rejecting Defendant's claim. Breedlove v. State, 692 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1997); Oats v. Dugger, 638 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1994). It should be affirmed.

Defendant also contends that the lower court should have found that Dr. Toomer was not asked to evaluate Defendant's sanity by Ms. Lyons and that Dr. Toomer's 1989 opinion that Defendant was insane should have been found credible. However, the trial court's factual findings are supported by competent substantial evidence and should be affirmed. *Stephens*.

Both Ms. Lyons and Mr. Billbrough testified that Dr. Toomer was asked to consider Defendant's sanity at the time of the crime and provided no useful information. (R. 353-54, 397-99, 408, 457-59) At the original trial, Dr. Toomer stated that he first met with Defendant on October 5, 1981, approximately a month after the crime. (DAT. 1632) The record amply reflects

that Ms. Lyons was actively pursuing an insanity defense at that time. Given Ms. Lyons and Mr. Billbrough's testimony and the fact that they were actively pursuing an insanity defense at the time, the lower court properly found that their testimony was more credible than Dr. Toomer's testimony. The lower court's factual finding is supported by competent substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

Moreover, a review of Dr. Toomer's original trial testimony shows that he had reached a conclusion about Defendant's mental state at the time the crime was committed. During his original testimony, Dr. Toomer stated that Defendant knew the difference between right and wrong and the requirements of the law but was not able to conform to them. (DAT. 1649) Dr. Toomer was not able to diagnose any particular mental illness in Defendant. (DAT. 1652) Dr. Toomer admitted that Defendant knew that his behavior was criminal. (DAT. 1655-57) However, he did not believe that Defendant could control his impulse to behave in (DAT. 1655-57) Dr. Toomer also agreed that that manner. Defendant knew the consequences of his actions. (DAT. 1657) Under Florida law, the M'Naghton test for insanity is used. Nowitzke v. State, 572 So. 2d 1346, 1355 n.5 (Fla. 1990). This test requires proof that a defendant was unable to understand the nature and quality of his act or its consequences or was

incapable of distinguishing right from wrong because of a mental infirmity, disease, or defect. *Mines v. State*, 390 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1980); *Wheeler v. State*, 344 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 1977). As seen above, Dr. Toomer testified at the original penalty phase that Defendant did not meet the requirements of this test. Given this testimony, the lower court properly determined that Dr. Toomer's change of opinion at resentencing was not credible is supported by competent, substantial evidence and should be affirmed. *Stephens*.

Even if counsel could be considered deficient for failing to present the defense, the denial of the claim should still be affirmed. The four experts who were appointed to determine Defendant's sanity at the time of arraignment found Defendant sane and malingering. Dr. Krop, who testified for Defendant at resentencing, also found Defendant sane. (RSR. 2537) Further, in an attempt to conform his resentencing opinion with his opinion at the time of the original trial and Defendant's statements and actions at the time of the crime, Dr. Toomer had to claim that Defendant was only insane when he fired the shots and not when he realized that the police were about to arrest him for a probation violation and when he later fled the scene, stole another car, drove carefully to his grandmother's home and concealed evidence of the crime by change clothes, cleaning up

and hiding the gun. (RSR. 2769-76, 2785-92) Given the limited nature of Dr. Toomer's testimony and the opinions of the other experts, there is no reasonable probability that an insanity defense would have succeeded. *Strickland*. As such, the claim was properly denied, and the denial should be affirmed.

Moreover, presenting of this defense would have opened the door to a great deal of harmful testimony. As Ms. Lyons stated, Defendant had informed numerous people that he was attempted to fool the doctors into finding him mentally ill and had done so in the past. (R. 388-94, 407-08) Further, Defendant had told Mark Castle that he planned to kill if he was about to be caught committing a crime again. (R. 461-62) Given that presenting an insanity defense would have opened the door to this testimony, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to do so. *Breedlove v. State*, 692 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1997). As such, the lower court's denial of this claim should be affirmed.

Defendant finally contends the lower court erred in finding that counsel's decision not to question the venire about mental illness was not ineffective.<sup>5</sup> Defendant asserts that no evidence was presented regarding why Ms. Lyons did not ask these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Defendant also refers to alleged ineffectiveness for failing to question the venire about intoxication. However, this Court has already affirmed the summary denial of that claim. *Patten v. State*, 784 So. 2d 380, 390 (Fla. 2000). As such, it is not properly before this Court.

questions. However, Ms. Lyons directly testified that she did not question the venire about mental illness because she had made a strategic decision not to present insanity as a defense. As such, the record amply supports the lower court's rejection of this claim and it should be affirmed. *Reaves v. State*, 826 So. 2d 932, (Fla. 2002)(counsel not ineffective for failing to voir dire jurors about a defense that counsel was not going to present); see also Stephens; Haliburton v. State, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997)(quoting Palmes v. Wainwright, 725 F.2d 1511, 1521 (11th Cir. 1984)(quoting Adams v. Wainwright, 709 F.2d 1443, 1445 (11th Cir. 1983))).

# II. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION TO INTERVIEW THE JURORS.

Defendant next contends that the lower court erred in denying his motion to interview the jurors. Defendant contends that such interviews were necessary for Defendant to establish that he was prejudiced by the failure of counsel to question the venire about mental health. Defendant asserts that had be established that counsel was deficient for failing to ask these questions, the only manner in which Defendant could have established prejudice was by presenting testimony from the jurors. However, this motion was properly denied.

This Court has repeatedly held that trial court's should not grant juror interviews unless a defendant can show that a particular juror was unqualified to serve or that juror misconduct has occurred. *Vining v. State*, 827 So. 2d 201, 216 (Fla. 2002); *Arbelaez v. State*, 775 So. 2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2001); *Kearse v. State*, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1127-28 (Fla. 2000); *Johnson v. State*, 593 So. 2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992). This Court explained the rationale behind these decisions in *Baptist Hospital of Miami v. Maler*, 579 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991). There, this Court explained that jurors were incompetent to testify about matter that inhere in the verdict, such as their mental processes, and are only competent to testify about overt acts of misconduct.

Moreover, there is a strong public policy against allowing litigants to either harass jurors or to attempt to upset a verdict by showing that it was improperly motivated.

Here, Defendant has not shown that any juror was, in fact, unqualified to serve or that any misconduct occurred. Instead, he sought to engage in fishing expedition interviews with the jurors to inquire into there mental processes. Under these circumstances, the lower court properly followed this Court's precedent and refused to permit the interviews. The lower court should be affirmed.

Despite this precedent, Defendant asserts that he should have been permitted to interview the jurors because this Court remanded this matter for an evidentiary hearing on his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to voir dire the venire about mental illness.<sup>6</sup> However, a review of this Court's opinion remanding this matter indicates that this Court did not intend for the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at voir dire to be considered as a separate claim. In remanding this matter for an evidentiary hearing, this Court stated:

Patton also argues counsel was ineffective for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Defendant also seems to claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to question the venire about intoxication. However, this Court affirmed the summary denial of this claim. *Patton v. State*, 784 So. 2d 380, 390 (Fla. 2000).

failing to investigate and present voluntary intoxication and insanity defenses. There is some doubt as to counsel's possible strategy for not presenting these defenses as discussed above; therefore, this claim is remanded for an evidentiary hearing. See Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1993)(approving, after an evidentiary hearing, counsel's tactical decision to forego a voluntary intoxication defense which was inconsistent with defendant's theory of the case that the accomplice was the main perpetrator and triggerman in the murder). In a related claim, Patton argues counsel was ineffective for failing to question the jury about mental illness during voir dire. This claim also depends upon whether counsel was motivated not to ask such questions for strategic purposes and is therefore intertwined with the intoxication and insanity defenses. Accordingly, this claim should be explored during the evidentiary hearing.

Patton, 784 So. 2d at 390. Given the manner in which this Court expressed itself, it appears that this Court envisioned exactly what occurred below. Counsel was questioned about her strategy. Thus, the lower court properly denied the motion. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, such a limited understanding of this Court's opinion is entirely consistent with *Strickland*. The inquiry regarding prejudice is objective. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695; *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59-60 (1985). It does not depend on the "idiosyncrasies of the particular decisionmaker." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695. As such, if Defendant had been able to prove that his counsel was ineffective for failing to present an insanity defense, the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to question the venire would be moot. If Defendant could not prove his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to present insanity, allowing Defendant to attempt to overturn his conviction and sentence would be contrary to *Strickland's* objective standard. As such, the lower court properly refused to allow Defendant to interview the jurors in an attempt to do so. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, any error in the failure to grant the jury interviews was harmless. In order to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both that his counsel's performance was deficient and that that deficiency prejudice him. *Strickland*. A claim of ineffective may be rejected because of a failure to met either prong and it is not necessary for a court rejecting a claim of ineffective assistance to discuss both prongs. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 697 (1984)(where either prejudice or deficiency prong of ineffectiveness claim was lacking, courts do not need to address other prong).

Here, counsel testified that she did not question the venire about mental illness because she had made a strategic decision not to present insanity as a defense. This testimony amply supports the lower court's determination that counsel was not deficient for failing to question the venire about mental

illness. As argued in Issue I, *supra*, the rejection of the claim based on a failure to prove deficiency should be affirmed. Because Defendant never proved that counsel was deficient, the issue of whether Defendant could interview the jurors in an attempt to show prejudice is now moot, as this Court held in rejecting Defendant's interlocutory appeal on this issue. *Patton v. State*, 817 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 2002); *see also Reaves v. State*, 826 So. 2d 932, (Fla. 2002)(counsel not ineffective for failing to voir dire jurors about a defense that counsel was not going to present). Moreover, because the lower court could have properly denied this claim based on the lack of deficiency, any error in the denial of the motion to interview jurors is harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The denial of the motion should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the order denying the motion for post conviction relief should be affirmed.